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1 “Metropolitan and Micropolitan Statistical Area 
Estimates” U.S. Census Bureau, http://www.census.
gov/popest/metro/tables/2007/CBSA-EST2007-01.
xls, Accessed 9/10/08.

(1) Population within 500 miles of downtown 
St. Louis. (2) Unemployment rates are not seasonally 
adjusted. (3) The BEA’s personal income per capita 
includes income from all sources, while the U.S. 
Census Bureau’s income per capita excludes cer-
tain sources of income such as interest, dividends, 
Medicare, payments in kind, etc. (4) The personal 
wealth indicator is a measure of the percent of 
income from dividends, interest, and rent compared 
with the U.S. average. This is one indicator of per-
sonal wealth.

1 “St. Louis, MO-IL Metropolitan Statistical Area, 
Selected Social Characteristics in the United 
States: 2007, American Community Survey” U.S. 
Census Bureau, http://factfinder.census.gov/
servlet/ADPTable?_bm=y&-geo_id=31000US41180&-
qr_name=ACS_2007_1YR_G00_DP2&-context=adp&-
ds_name=&-tree_id=307&-_lang=en&-redoLog=false&-
format=, Accessed 1/28/09.

2 “Local Television Market Universe Estimates” 
Marketing Charts, www.marketingcharts.com/wp/
wp-content/uploads/2008/09/nielsen-top-30-local-
television-market-universe-estimates-2008-2009.jpg
(citing data from Nielsen Media Research, Inc. effec-
tive as of Sept. 27, 2008), Accessed 9/11/08.

3 “Circular Area Profiles (CAPS)” Missouri Census 
Data Center, http://mcdc2.missouri.edu/websas/
caps.html, Accessed 9/11/08.

4 “Density Using Land Area For States, Counties, 
Metropolitan Areas, and Places 2000” U.S. Census 
Bureau, www.census.gov/population/www/census-
data/density.html, Accessed 9/20/07.

5 “Local Area Unemployment Statistics, St. Louis 
MO-IL Metropolitan Statistical Area” U.S. Bureau of 
Labor Statistics, http://data.bls.gov/PDQ/outside.
jsp?survey=la, Accessed 1/27/09.

6 “Labor Force Statistics from the Current 
Population Survey” U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, 
http://data.bls.gov/PDQ/outside.jsp?survey=la,
Accessed 1/27/09.

7 “Gross Domestic Product by Metropolitan Area, 
2006” U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis. www.bea.
gov/regional/gdpmetro/, Accessed 9/24/08.

8 “Advance Metropolitan Statistical Area Income 
Summary, St. Louis, MO-IL (MSA), 2007” U.S. Bureau 
of Economic Analysis, www.bea.gov/regional/reis/
default.cfm?catable=AMSA04&series=AMSA&section=
2&areatype=MSA, Accessed 1/28/09.

9 “St. Louis, MO-IL Metropolitan Statistical Area, 
Selected Economic Characteristics: 2007, American 
Community Survey” U.S. Census Bureau, http://
factfinder.census.gov/servlet/ADPTable?_bm=y&-
geo_id=31000US41180&-qr_name=ACS_2007_1YR_
G00_DP3&-context=adp&-ds_name=&-tree_id=307&-_
lang=en&-redoLog=false&-format=, Accessed 
1/28/09.

10 “United States, Selected Economic Characteristics: 
2007, American Community Survey” U.S. 
Census Bureau, http://factfinder.census.gov/
servlet/ADPTable?_bm=y&-geo_id=01000US&-
qr_name=ACS_2007_1YR_G00_DP3&-context=adp&-
ds_name=&-tree_id=307&-_lang=en&-redoLog=false&-
format=, Accessed 1/28/09.

11 “ACCRA Cost of Living Index” Council for Community 
and Economic Research, Jan. 2009, p. 1.7.

1 ”Population Finder,”  U.S. Census Bureau, http://
factfinder.census.gov/servlet/DTTable?_bm=y&-
state=dt&-context=dt&-ds_name=PEP_2007_EST&-mt_
name=PEP_2007_EST_G2007_T001&-tree_id=807&-
redoLog=true&-all_geo_types=N&-_caller=geoselect&-
geo_id=05000US17005&-geo_id=05000US17013&-
geo_id=05000US17027&-geo_id=05000US17083&-
geo_id=05000US17117&-geo_id=05000US17119&-
geo_id=05000US17133&-geo_id=05000US17163&-
geo_id=05000US29071&-geo_id=05000US29099&-
geo_id=05000US29113&-geo_id=05000US29183&-
geo_id=05000US29189&-geo_id=05000US29219&-
geo_id=05000US29221&-geo_id=05000US29510&-
search_results=05000US29183&-format=&-_lang=en,
Accessed 9/10/08.

2 Source for City of St. Louis Population: “Accepted 
Challenges to Vintage 2007 Population Estimates,” 
U.S. Census Bureau, http://www.census.gov/popest/
archives/2000s/vinatge_2007/07s_challenges.html,
Accessed 1/27/09.

DOWNTOWN ST. LOUIS 

1 Downtown St. Louis Partnership, 
www.downtownstl.org

2 “Accepted Challenges to Vintage 2007 Population 
Estimates” U.S. Census Bureau, www.census.gov/
popest/archives/2000s/vintage_2007/07s_chal-
lenges.html, Accessed 1/27/09.

3 “Development Overview” Downtown St. Louis 
Partnership, http://www.downtownstl.com/
Overview_74.aspx, Accessed 10/7/08.

MUNICIPALITIES WITH 

”Cities & Towns” U.S. Census Bureau, www.census.
gov/popest/cities/SUB-EST2007-4.html, Accessed 
9/10/08.

1 Source for City of St. Louis Population: “Accepted 
Challenges to Vintage 2007 Population Estimates,” 
U.S. Census Bureau, http://www.census.gov/popest/
archives/2000s/vinatge_2007/07s_challenges.html,
Accessed 1/27/09.

“American Community Survey 2007,” U.S. 
Census Bureau,  http://factfinder.census.gov/
servlet/ADPTable?_bm=y&-geo_id=01000US&-
qr_name=ACS_2007_EST_G00_DP5&-ds_name=&-_
lang=en&-redoLog=false&-format=, Accessed 
9/24/08.

“American Community Survey 2007,” U.S. Census 
Bureau,  http://factfinder.census.gov/servlet/
ADPTable?_bm=y&-geo_id=31000US41180&-
qr_name=ACS_2007_EST_G00_DP2&-context=adp&-
ds_name=&-tree_id=306&-_lang=en&-redoLog=false&-
format= Accessed 9/24/07.

“Cities & Towns” U.S. Census Bureau, http://www.
census.gov/popest/cities/SUB-EST2007-4.html,
Accessed 9/17/08.

“Sex by Age – Universe: Total Population, 2007 
American Community Survey”, U.S. Census Bureau, 
http://factfinder.census.gov/servlet/DTTable?_
bm=y&-context=dt&-ds_name=ACS_2007_1YR_G00_&-
CONTEXT=dt&-mt_name=ACS_2007_1YR_G2000_
B01001&-tree_id=307&-geo_id=01000US&-geo_
id=31000US41180&-search_results=31000US41180&-
format=&-_lang=en&-SubjectID=15257457, Accessed 
1/28/09.

“American Community Survey 2007”, 
U.S. Census Bureau, http://factfinder.census.
gov/servlet/DTTable?_bm=y&-context=dt&-
ds_name=ACS_2007_1YR_G00_&-CONTEXT=dt&-
mt_name=ACS_2007_1YR_G2000_B15002&-tree_
id=307&-geo_id=01000US&-geo_id=31000US41180&-
search_results=31000US41180&-format=&-_lang=en&-
SubjectID=15258038, Accessed 1/28/09.

“College Navigator” National Center For Education 
Statistics, http://nces.ed.gov/ipeds/cool/index.aspx, 
Accessed 9/18/07.

“College Navigator” National Center For Education 
Statistics, http://nces.ed.gov/ipeds/cool/index.aspx, 
Accessed 9/18/08.

1 “Higher Education in America’s Metropolitan Areas: 
A Statistical Profile” Atlanta Regional Council for 
Higher Education, 2008, p. 4, 7, http://www.atlan-
tahighered.org/Portals/12/ArcheImages/Reports/
Docs/MSA_National.pdf, Accessed 11/19/08.

2 “American Community Survey 2007,” U.S. 
Census Bureau, http://factfinder.census.gov/
servlet/ADPTable?_bm=y&-geo_id=31000US41180&-
qr_name=ACS_2007_1YR_G00_DP2&-context=adp&-
ds_name=ACS_2007_1YR_G00_&-tree_id=306&-_
lang=en&-redoLog=false&-format=, Accessed 
9/24/08.

3 “Best Colleges – Education, 2009” U.S. News and 
World Report, http://colleges.usnews.rankingsandre-
views.com/college, Accessed 10/21/08.

4 “Best Colleges – Education, 2009” U.S. News and 
World Report, http://colleges.usnews.rankingsandre-
views.com/college, Accessed 10/21/08.

5 “Best Colleges – Education, 2009” U.S. News and 
World Report, http://colleges.usnews.rankingsandre-
views.com/college, Accessed 10/21/08.

6 “Best Colleges – Education, 2009” U.S. News and 
World Report, http://colleges.usnews.rankingsandre-
views.com/college, Accessed 10/21/08.

7 SLU Boasts Only Entrepreneurship Program in 
Missouri to be Ranked Among Best by U.S. News,
Fortune Small Business, Saint Louis University, 
http://www.slu.edu/x17200.xml, Accessed 11/18/08.

8 “Best Graduate Schools – Education, 2009” U.S.
News and World Report, http://grad-schools.usnews.
rankingsandreviews.com/grad, Accessed 10/21/08.
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10 YEAR EMPLOYMENT PROJECTIONS 

1“Occupational Employment Projections” Missouri 
Economic Research and Information Center, http://
www.missourieconomy.org/occupations/ltprj/
Default.aspx, Accessed 9/17/08.

2 “May 2007 Occupational Employment and Wage 
Estimates” Bureau of Labor Statistics, http://www.
bls.gov/oes/oes_dl.htm, Accessed 9/17/08.

The Employment estimates and projections are 
rounded to the tens place while the growth num-
bers represent the actual employee and percentage 
estimates.

The St. Louis Region is defined as the Missouri 
counties: Crawford, Franklin, Gasconade, Jefferson, 
Lincoln, Montgomery, St. Charles, St. Louis, City of 
St. Louis, Warren, and Washington.

“St. Louis’ Fastest Growing Occupations: 2007-2009” 
Missouri Economic Research and Information Center, 
http://www.missourieconomy.org/pdfs/Fastest_
Growing_SL_07-09.pdf, Accessed 9/18/08.

The St. Louis Region is defined as the Missouri 
counties: Crawford, Franklin, Gasconade, Jefferson, 
Lincoln, Montgomery, St. Charles, St. Louis, St. Louis 
City, Warren, and Washington.

LABOR FORCE AND EMPLOYMENT, 
METRO EAST/WEST CITIES WITH OVER 

“Local Area Unemployment Statistics, 2007 Annual 
Averages” Bureau of Labor Statistics, http://data.bls.
gov/PDQ/outside.jsp?survey=la, Accessed 9/18/08.

1 Based on data from “Selected Economic 
Characteristics: 2007, St. Louis, MO-IL Metropolitan 
Statistical Area,” U.S. Census Bureau, http://
factfinder.census.gov/servlet/CTTable?_bm=y&-
context=ct&-ds_name=ACS_2007_1YR_G00_&-
mt_name=ACS_2007_1YR_G2000_B08130&-
tree_id=307&-geo_id=01000US&-geo_
id=31000US41180&-search_results=31000US41180&-
dataitem=ACS_2007_1YR_G2000_B08130.
B08130_1_EST|ACS_2007_1YR_G2000_B08130.
B08130_2_EST|ACS_2007_1YR_G2000_B08130.
B08130_3_EST|ACS_2007_1YR_G2000_B08130.
B08130_4_EST|ACS_2007_1YR_G2000_B08130.
B08130_5_EST|ACS_2007_1YR_G2000_B08130.
B08130_6_EST|ACS_2007_1YR_G2000_B08130.
B08130_7_EST|ACS_2007_1YR_G2000_B08130.
B08130_8_EST|ACS_2007_1YR_G2000_B08130.
B08130_9_EST|ACS_2007_1YR_G2000_B08130.
B08130_10_EST|ACS_2007_1YR_G2000_B08130.
B08130_11_EST|ACS_2007_1YR_G2000_B08130.
B08130_12_EST|ACS_2007_1YR_G2000_B08130.
B08130_13_EST|ACS_2007_1YR_G2000_B08130.
B08130_14_EST|ACS_2007_1YR_G2000_B08130.
B08130_15_EST|ACS_2007_1YR_G2000_B08130.
B08130_16_EST|ACS_2007_1YR_G2000_B08130.
B08130_17_EST|ACS_2007_1YR_G2000_B08130.
B08130_18_EST|ACS_2007_1YR_G2000_B08130.
B08130_19_EST|ACS_2007_1YR_G2000_B08130.
B08130_20_EST|ACS_2007_1YR_G2000_B08130.
B08130_21_EST|ACS_2007_1YR_G2000_B08130.
B08130_22_EST|ACS_2007_1YR_G2000_B08130.
B08130_23_EST|ACS_2007_1YR_G2000_B08130.
B08130_24_EST|ACS_2007_1YR_G2000_B08130.
B08130_25_EST|ACS_2007_1YR_G2000_B08130.
B08130_26_EST|ACS_2007_1YR_G2000_B08130.
B08130_27_EST|ACS_2007_1YR_G2000_B08130.
B08130_28_EST|ACS_2007_1YR_G2000_B08130.
B08130_29_EST|ACS_2007_1YR_G2000_B08130.
B08130_30_EST|ACS_2007_1YR_G2000_B08130.
B08130_31_EST&-format=&-subj_treenode_
id=15259620&-_lang=en, Accessed 9/24/08.

2 Data on Bond County, IL, Calhoun County, IL, 
Clinton County, IL, Jersey County, IL, Macoupin 
County, IL, Monroe County, IL, Lincoln County, MO, 
Warren County, MO, and Washington County, MO 

are the most recent available from “Census 2000 
Summary File 3: Place of Work for Workers 16 Years 
and Over” U.S. Census Bureau, http://factfinder.
census.gov/servlet/DTGeoSearchByListServlet?ds_
name=DEC_2000_SF3_U&_lang=en, Accessed 9/24/08.

AVERAGE UNEMPLOYMENT RATES 

“Unemployment Rates for Metropolitan Areas 2007” 
U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, http://www.bls.gov/
lau/lamtrk07.htm, Accessed 9/18/07.

“Selectory” Dun & Bradstreet, www.selectory.com, 
Accessed 11/13/08.

(1) Search on Location Type = Headquarters OR 
Branches OR Single Locations. (2) Search on 
Location Type = Headquarters OR Single Locations 
(HQ or subsidiaries). (3) Headquarters have other 
locations reporting to them. (4) Search on Location 
Type = Headquarters OR Single Locations (HQ or 
subsidiaries) of Women Owned, Minority Owned 
Corporations Located Anywhere.

1 “Best Places To Launch A Career 2008” 
BusinessWeek, http://bwnt.businessweek.com/
interactive_reports/career_launch_2008/index.asp,
Accessed 2/2/09. 

2 “The Global 2000” Forbes, 2008, http://www.
forbes.com/lists/2008/18/biz_2000global08_The-
Global-2000_Company.html, Accessed 10/22/08. 

3 “America’s 200 Best Small Companies” Forbes,
http://www.forbes.com/2008/10/08/best-small-
companies-ent-200smalls08-cz_kb_1008small_land.
html, Accessed 10/23/08. 

4 “America’s Best Big Companies” Forbes, http://
www.forbes.com/lists/2009/88/bigcompanies08_
The-400-Best-Big-Companies_Company.html,
Published Dec. 22, 08, Accessed 1/28/09. 

5 “America’s Largest Private Companies” Forbes,
Nov. 3, 2008, http://www.forbes.com/lists/2008/21/
privates08_Americas-Largest-Private-Companies_
Rank.html, Accessed 1/15/09. 

6 “Best Cities for Jobs 2008” Forbes, http://www.
forbes.com/2008/01/11/jobs-economy-growth-lead-
careers-cx_mk_0110cities_table.html?boxes=custom,
Accessed 10/23/08. 

7 “Best Cities For Young Professionals” 
Forbes, http://www.forbes.com/2008/07/09/
cities-professionals-young-forbeslife-
cx_mw_0709youngprofessionals_slide_27.
html?thisSpeed=3000, Accessed 10/23/08. 

8 “Most Affordable Places To Live Well” Forbes,
Nov. 6, 2007, www.forbes.com/reales-
tate/2007/11/05/homes-property-affordable-
forbeslife-cx_mw_1106realestate.html?boxes=author,
Accessed 11/7/07. 

9 “Most Affordable U.S. Real Estate Markets” 
Forbes, Aug. 2, 2007, www.forbes.com/2007/08/01/
homes-affordable-property-forbeslife-cx_
mw_0802realestate.html, Accessed 11/7/07. 

10 “100 Best Companies to Work For 2009”, Fortune,
http://money.cnn.com/magazines/fortune/bestcom-
panies/2009/full_list/, Accessed 1/30/09. 

11 “Fortune Global 500” Fortune, http://money.cnn.
com/magazines/fortune/global500/2008/compa-
nies/, Accessed 10/23/08. 

12 “America’s Most Admired Companies 2008”, 
Fortune, http://money.cnn.com/magazines/fortune/
mostadmired/2008/full_list/index.html, Accessed 
10/23/08.

13 “Top Inc. 5,000 Companies by Metro Region 
– St. Louis, MO-IL,” Inc., http://www.inc.com/
inc5000/2008/lists/st-louis-mo-il.html, Accessed 
10/23/08.

14 “2007 InformationWeek 500” InformationWeek,
http://www.informationweek.com/iw500/, Accessed 
10/23/08.

15 “2008 All-American City Award Winners 
Announced!” National Civic League, www.ncl.org/
aac/AACindex.htm, Accessed 2/3/09. 

16 “Leadership, Stability, and Social Responsibility,” 
Science Magazine, http://sciencecareers.sciencemag.
org/career_magazine/previous_issues/arti-
cles/2008_10_10/science.opms.r0800061, Accessed 
10/28/08.

17 “Danforth Center Named Among Best Workplaces 
in Academia,” St. Louis Business Journal, http://
stlouis.bizjournals.com/stlouis/stories/2006/10/09/
daily6.html, Accessed 10/28/08. 

18 “St. Louis Named 8th in Nation for Real Estate 
Investing,” St. Louis Business Journal, http://stlouis.
bizjournals.com/stlouis/stories/2008/07/14/daily23.
html?t=printable, Accessed 7/15/2008.

“Fortune 500,” http://money.cnn.com/magazines/
fortune/fortune500/2008/full_list/, Fortune
Magazine, Accessed 9-24-08. 

(1) Dual Headquarters in St. Louis and Chicago. (2) 
A.G. Edwards was acquired by Wachovia Securities 
in 2007. 

“County Business Patterns (NAICS),” U.S. Census 
Bureau, http://censtats.census.gov/cgi-bin/cbpnaic/
cbpsel.pl, Accessed 9/28/08.

TOTAL NUMBER OF BUSINESS 

“2006 MSA Business Patterns (NAICS)” U.S. Census 
Bureau, http://censtats.census.gov/cgi-bin/msanaic/
msasect.pl, Accessed 9/28/07.

“Book of Lists 2008” St. Louis Business Journal;
“Selectory” Dun & Bradstreet; “Sorkins Directory” 
Sorkins; “ReferenceUSA” InfoUSA; organization web-
sites; and RCGA internal sources.

PUBLICLY TRADED COMPANIES HEADQUARTERED 

“Selectory” Dun & Bradstreet, http://www.selec-
tory.com, Accessed 11/17/08. & “The Argent Index,” 
Argent Capital Management, November 2008.

OFFICE AND INDUSTRIAL REAL ESTATE 

(1) “Total Office Market Statistics,” The CoStar Office 
Report, Third Quarter 2008, St. Louis Office Market, 
CoStar Group, Inc., 2008. (2) “Total Industrial Market 
Statistics,” The CoStar Industrial Report, Third 
Quarter 2008, St. Louis Industrial Market, CoStar 
Group Inc., 2008. (3) “Total Office Market Statistics,” 
The CoStar Office Report, Third Quarter 2008, 
National Office Market, CoStar Group Inc., 2008. (4) 
“Total Industrial Market Statistics,” The CoStar Office 
Report, Third Quarter 2008, National Industrial 
Market, CoStar Group, Inc., 2008.

“Building Construction Cost Data,” RSMeans, 2009, 
p. 713, 809-815.

Note: Construction Costs for the St. Louis, MO-IL 
MSA are obtained with this formula: (Index for 
St. Louis ((102.9) / 100) x National Median Cost).

(1) “2008 Airport Fact Sheet” U.S. Bureau of 
Transportation Statistics, www.transtats.bts.gov. (2) 
“Flight Information” Lambert-St. Louis International 
Airport, www.flystl.com/flystl/fi/arrival/acity/, 
Accessed 10/6/08. 

1 Lambert St. Louis International Airport, http://www.
lambert-stlouis.com/, Accessed 1/14/08.

2 Lambert St. Louis International Airport, http://
www.lambert-stlouis.com/, Accessed 9/22/08.

3 “Air Carrier Information” Lambert-St. Louis 
International Airport, www.flystl.com/flystl/airlines, 
Accessed 11/20/08.
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4 “Airport Experience: Priority Projects Push 
Ahead” in ”Lambert Advantage” Lambert-St. Louis 
International Airport, Fall 2008, www.flystl.com/fly-
stl/media-newsroom/publications/pdf/index-news-
letter.pdf, Accessed 11/20/08.

5 “MidAmerica Airport to Welcome First 
Regular Intercontinental Cargo Shipment 
from South America, Positioning Airport 
as Key Distribution Hub” MidAmerica St. 
Louis Airport, Oct. 27, 2008, http://www.
flymidamerica.com/NR/rdonlyres/1D2AF597-
5ABE-4A86-A268-51E5670923AC/0/
MidAmericaWelcomesNewCargoFlight_Release.doc,
Accessed 2/2/09.

6 “MidAmerica St. Louis Airport” www.flymidamerica.
com, Accessed 11/13/06.

9 “Top 25 U.S. Inland Ports Ranked by CY2006 
Trip Ton-Miles” U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, 
Waterborne Commerce Statistics Center, 2008.

10 “Waterborne Commerce of the United States, 
Calendar Year 2006, Part 2-Waterways and Harbors, 
Gulf Coast, Mississippi River System and Antilles” 
U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, 2007, p. 18, 235, 
http://www.iwr.usace.army.mil/ndc/wcsc/pdf/
wcusmvgc06.pdf, Accessed 11/20/08.

11 Tri-City Port District, http://www.tricityport.com, 
Accessed 1/15/08.

7 “St. Louis Terminal” [railroads map], Alton & 
Southern Railway Co., 2002, www.altonsouthernrail-
way.com/images/st-louis.PDF, Accessed 12/27/06.

8 “Overview of U.S. Freight Railroads” Association 
of American Railroads, 2006, http://www.aar.
org/PubCommon/Documents/AboutTheIndustry/
Overview.pdf, Accessed 12/27/06.

12 “U.S. Foreign-Trade Zones” U.S. Department of 
Commerce, http://ia.ita.doc.gov/ftzpage/letters/
ftzlist.html#Missouri, Accessed 11/13/06. and Foreign 
Trade Zone Board notices in “Federal Register” U.S. 
Government Printing Office, www.gpoaccess.gov/fr/
index.html, Accessed 9/29/08.

13 “Route 61/27 Avenue of the Saints” Missouri 
Department of Transportation, www.modot.gov/
northeast/61_27AveofSts.htm, Accessed 11/20/08.

14 “The New I-64” Missouri Department of 
Transportation, http://www.thenewi64.org/, 
Accessed 11/20/08.

15 “Gov. Blagojevich, Gov. Blunt Announce 
Agreement to Construct a New Mississippi River 
Bridge in Metro East” State of Illinois, Office of the 
Governor, Feb. 28, 2008.

16 “Metro 2007 Fiscal Year Annual Report” Metro, 
www.metrostlouis.org/InsideMetro/AnnualReports/2
007MetroAnnualReport.pdf, Accessed 11/20/08.

“2008 Utility Bill Comparisons for Selected 
U.S. Cities: Electricity, Natural Gas, Water and 
Wastewater” Memphis Light, Gas and Water Division, 
2008.

“ACCRA Cost of Living Index, 2008 Annual Average” 
Council for Community and Economic Research, 
January 2009.

Notes: U.S. Metro average cost of living index = 100.

Census Data: “Median Housing Value of Owner-
Occupied Housing Units (Dollars): 2007,” American 
Community Survey 2007, U.S. Census Bureau, http://
factfinder.census.gov/servlet/GCTTable?_bm=y&-
state=gct&-context=gct&-ds_name=ACS_2007_1YR_
G00_&-_box_head_nbr=GCT2510&-mt_name=&-tree_
id=307&-redoLog=true&-_caller=geoselect&-geo_id=&-
format=US-35&-_lang=en, Accessed 10/2/08

“Home Price Comparison Index,” Coldwell 
Banker, 2008, http://hpci.coldwellbanker.
com/?customerType=Learn, Accessed 10/02/08.

Notes: Passadena, CA represents Los Angeles, CA 
and Queens represents New York, NY.  Houses are 
2,200 sq. ft., 4 bedrooms, 2 1/2 baths, family room, 
and 2 car attached garage suitable for middle-
management transferees.

PER CAPITA STATE AND 

“State-Local Tax Burdens, All States 2008” Tax 
Foundation, 2008, http://www.taxfoundation.org/
taxdata/show/336.html, Accessed 9/12/08.

“2008 State Tax Handbook” CCH, 2007.

Residential, commercial and personal property tax 
rates - county governments (Sept. 2008).

Note: Tax rates in these counties are reported based 
on a representative rate district selected within the 
county seat in a business district.

Note: Missouri effective tax rates are based on real 
estate assessed at 19% for residential and 32% of 
commercial true or fair market values.  Personal 
property is assessed at 1/3 of true value.

Note: Illinois effective tax rates are based on value 
assessed at 1/3 of market value.

Note: Illinois has no personal property taxes.  
However, corporations pay a 2.5% personal property 
tax replacement income tax (S corps., partnerships, 
and trusts pay 1.5%).

Missouri general merchandise sales tax rates - 
“Sales/Use Tax Rate Table” Missouri Department 
of Revenue, Oct. 2008, http://dor.mo.gov/tax/
business/sales/rates/2008/oct2008.pdf, Accessed 
9/10/08.

Illinois general merchandise sales tax rates - 
“Illinois Tax Rate Finder” Illinois Department of 
Revenue, http://www.revenue.state.il.us/app/trii/
index.html, Accessed 9/11/08.

Note: Tax rates in these counties are reported based 
on a representative rate district selected within the 
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